# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 1

# RECEIVED

SEP 2 0 2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff - Respondent,

vs.

Appeal No. 17AP940 CR

LARON HENRY,

Defendant - Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANT/DEFENDANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JANET PROTASIEWICZ PRESIDING

Taylor Rens
State Bar No. 1098258
Attorney for the Laron Henry
P.O. Box 14218
West Allis, WI 53214
(414) 810-2678
trens@krlawwi.com

#

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in when it determined that Henry personally ratified his plea because Henry never admitted and expressly denied a necessary element to the intimidation of a witness charge;
- II. Whether the Circuit Court erred when it determined that there was a factual basis for Henry's plea because the prosecution never filed a criminal complaint for the intimidation of a witness charge and Henry's answers to the plea colloquy were insufficient to establish a factual basis;
- III. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying Henry's request for a *Bangert* hearing because Henry made a *prima facie* showing that he did not understand that malicious intent was a necessary element to the intimidation of a witness charge.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Henry submits that oral argument is unnecessary because the issues can be set forth fully in the briefs. Publication is unnecessary as the issues presented relate solely to the application of existing law to the facts of record.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **Procedural History**

On May 22, 2015, the State of Wisconsin filed a criminal complaint in Milwaukee County Circuit Court case number 15-CF-2272 charging Laron Henry with three felonies and five misdemeanors. App 1. The three felony counts included two counts of strangulation and suffocation and one count of false imprisonment. *Id.* The five misdemeanor charges included two counts of battery, two counts of disorderly conduct, and one count of bail jumping. *Id.* About ten months later, in March 2016, the State filed

a criminal complaint in Milwaukee County Circuit Court case number 16-CF-1161 charging Mr. Henry with one count of felony bail jumping based on his failure to appear for a court date in 15-CF-2272. App 8. The cases were then joined, and the trial began on August 1, 2016. On August 2, 2017, the prosecution added the charge of intimidation of a witness under Wis. Stat. § 940.43(7) (2015-16). App 10.

On August 2, 2017, Henry entered a change of plea. He entered a guilty plea to the charges of intimidation of a witness under Wis. State § 940.43(7), one count of battery under 940.19(1), and bail jumping under Wis. Stat. § 946.49. App 36. The Circuit Court dismissed and read in all of the remaining charges in the two cases. App 35.

On April 27, 2017, Henry filed a post-conviction motion in the Circuit Court to withdraw the guilty plea. App 19. Henry argued that there was a manifest injustice because 1) he failed to ratify his plea, 2) there was no factual basis for a plea, and 3) he requested a *Bangert* hearing on the basis that he did not understand what the elements to intimidation of a witness were. App 19-21. In an order dated May 2, 2017, the Circuit Court denied Henry's post-conviction motion. *Id.* Henry now appeals the Circuit Court's May 2, 2017 Decision and Order on all three issues.

#### **Factual Background**

At the outset of the second day of trial, the prosecutor informed the Circuit Court that the parties had reached a plea agreement based on new developments in the case that arose the previous night:

The Prosecutor: Also, further developments, last night detective -- I guess this morning, actually, Detective Emanuelson listened to some jail calls that Mr. Henry placed last night. In several

of the -- it's a series of calls. In one of them, Mr. Henry is explaining to a third party what happened in court, says if they don't come back tomorrow the whole case will be dismissed. He asked that person to contact -I believe he uses the term "them." But then you hear on the jail call this third party get on speakerphone and speak to Ms. Turpin essentially relaying that to them, saying if you guys don't come back to court tomorrow the whole case will be dismissed. Ms. Turpin explains that they are worried about potential body attachments and her mother's probation status. But that person does relay Mr. Henry's thought, and along with that thought, wish that they not come back to court today. So based on that, I made a new offer to defense counsel this morning to plead to one count of felony bail jumping as charged in 16-CF-1161; an additional count on that case, I have amended information for felony intimidation of a witness with a domestic abuse assessment, and one of the battery counts in the 15-CF case as a repeater. At sentencing both sides would be free to argue. It's my understanding that Mr. Henry wishes to accept that offer.

App 26-27.

During the plea colloquy, the following exchange between Henry and the Circuit Court occurred.

The Court: Sir, did you read the criminal complaints and go

through the informations in your cases?

The Defendant: Yes.

The Court: Are the facts stated in those complaints true?

The Defendant: Yes.

. . . .

The Court: What did you do last night that was the felony

intimidation, sir?

The Defendant: Made a call to somebody and they made a call to

somebody else.

The Court: And was that call -- were you making those phone calls

with the attempts and hopes that the witnesses

wouldn't show up for court today?

The Defendant: No. (Additional unintelligible speaking).

The Court: Pardon?

No.

The Defendant:

The Court: Well, what were you doing that was the crime? You

can make phone calls.

The Defendant: Talking to - basically talking [sic] third party.

The Court: Were you talking to the third party that the case would

stop if the witnesses didn't show up?

The Defendant: Yes.

App 38-40.

Henry later testified, in the affidavit attached to his motion for post-conviction relief, that at the time he entered his plea he did not in fact know that the State was required to prove the mental state element of the intimidation of a witness offense.

Following this exchange with Henry, the Court questioned defense counsel regarding the factual basis for Henry's plea:

The Court: All right, sir. Counsel, are you satisfied that there's a

factual basis for each plea?

Mr. Canfield: Yes, Judge.

The Court: May I use the complaints for the bases?

Mr. Canfield: Yes.

The Court: The Court will find that Mr. Henry is entering each

plea freely, voluntarily, and intelligently. I find that he understands the charges, the maximum possible penalties, and all of the rights he is giving up. I find there's a factual basis for each plea and I will accept the

pleas.

Plea Hearing Transcript, p. 18.

Despite the court and defense counsel's references to a criminal complaint, the State never filed an amended criminal complaint that included the intimidation of a witness charge.

After accepting Mr. Henry's plea, the Court imposed the maximum sentence of nine years of initial confinement followed by eight years of extended supervision. App 51.

## **Disposition of the Trial Court**

In a Decision and Order dated May 2, 2017, the Circuit Court denied Henry's post-conviction motion. App 19.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Circuit Court erred in when it determined that Henry personally ratified his plea because Henry never admitted and expressly denied a necessary element to the intimidation of a witness charge.

Laron Henry should be allowed to withdraw his guilty pleas because he failed to personally enter or ratify his guilty plea to felony intimidation of a witness, which is a manifest injustice that can only be remedied by allowing Henry to withdraw his pleas. See State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶14, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836. The decision whether to allow a defendant to withdraw a guilty plea is generally within the sound discretion of the trial court. Thomas, Wis. 2d at 716. However, when a defendant is denied a constitutional right relevant to the plea proceedings, he is entitled to withdraw his plea as a matter of right; in such a case, the trial court ruling on the motion to withdraw has no discretion to deny the motion. State v. Cain, 2012 WI 68, ¶21, 342 Wis. 2d 1, 816 N.W.2d

177. The legal standard that applies to a motion to withdraw a guilty plea depends on whether the motion is brought before sentencing or after. *Id.* at 14. A defendant who seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing—as Henry does here—bears the burden to establish by clear and convincing evidence that withdrawal of the plea is necessary to correct a "manifest injustice." *Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d at 726.

Wisconsin appellate courts have identified a number of situations that lead to a manifest injustice if the defendant is not allowed to withdraw his plea after sentencing, including situations where the defendant did not personally enter or ratify the plea. Cain, 342 Wis. 2d at 19 n. 7. A defendant's personal ratification of a plea is lacking when the defendant denies at the plea hearing that his conduct constituted commission of the crime to which he is pleading guilty. See Cain, 342 Wis. 2d at 19 n. 7. In evaluating a motion to withdraw premised on a claim that the defendant failure to personally enter or ratify a plea, the presiding court may consider the entire record of the proceedings, not just the plea hearing record. Cain, 342 Wis. 2d at 19-21. This is because "the issue is no longer whether the . . . plea should have been accepted" but rather whether withdrawal of the plea is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. State v. White, 85 Wis. 2d 485, 491, 271 N.W.2d 97 (1978); Cain, 342 Wis. 2d at 20. Thus, for example, the court may consider

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Examples of situations that Wisconsin courts have found to result in a manifest injustice include situations where the defendant was provided ineffective assistance of counsel, the plea was involuntary, or the prosecutor failed to fulfill the plea agreement. *Cain*, 342 Wis. 2d at 17, *citing State v. Daley*, 2006 WI App 81, ¶ 20, n. 3, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906.

statements made by the defendant and defense counsel at the sentencing hearing alongside statements made at the plea hearing. See e.g., Thomas, 232 Wis. 2d at 730.

In this case, Henry did not personally ratify his plea to the felony intimidation of a witness charge. Instead, during his plea colloquy with the Court, Henry denied that his conduct satisfied the mental state element of the crime. Under Wis. Stat. § 940.42-43, the crime of felony intimidation of a witness has four elements: (1) knowingly and maliciously (2) prevents or dissuades, or attempts to prevent or dissuade (3) any witness from attending or giving testimony at a trial, proceeding, or inquiry (4) in a criminal case involving a felony charge. See Wis. Stat. § 940.42-43. Henry admitted to contacting potential witnesses through a third party, but he denied that he did so with malicious intent.

The Court: And was that call -- were you making those phone calls

with the attempts and hopes that the witnesses

wouldn't show up for court today?

The Defendant: No. (Additional unintelligible speaking).

The Court: Pardon?

The Defendant:

No.

The Court: Well, what were you doing that was the crime? You

can make phone calls.

The Defendant:

Talking to – basically talking [sic] third party.

The Court:

Were you talking to the third party that the case would

stop if the witnesses didn't show up?

The Defendant:

Yes.

App 39-40.

The Circuit Court's first question above asks specifically about the mental state element of the offense, and Henry responded by denying guilt; he refused to admit that he acted with the requisite mental state. In contrast, Henry answered yes to the court's last question, but that question was not about the mental state element of the crime. By answering yes to the Circuit Court's last question, Henry admitted that he was the person who made the statements on the recordings, not that he did so with a malicious intent. Because Henry denied that his conduct satisfied all the elements of intimidation of a witness under Wis. Stat. § 940.43(7), he failed to personally ratify his guilty plea to that charge. See Cain, 342 Wis. 2d at 19 n.7. As a result, the Circuit Court erred in accepting the plea. See Id. Moreover, although the Circuit Court's review of the record is not limited to the plea hearing, nothing that was said at the sentencing hearing is relevant to the question of whether Henry personally ratified his plea. Cf. Cain, 342 Wis. 2d at 22; Thomas, 232 Wis. 2d 731. Henry's only statement on the record regarding the State's allegations that he acted maliciously was a flat-out denial of guilt.

In addition, Henry's answers to the plea colloquy indicated that he believed the criminal act he was admitting to was simply making the phone calls to the third party, not that he had malicious intent. For example, when the court asked Henry "What'd you do last night that was felony intimidation, sir?" Henry responded by saying "Made a phone call to somebody and they made a call to somebody else." App 39-40. Further, when the court asked Henry if he was making the phone calls in an attempt to dissuade the witness from showing up at court Henry said "No." *ld.* Finally, when the court specifically asked Henry what the crime was that he committed, Henry responded that the crime was "[t]alking to – basically talking third party." *ld.* All of Henry's responses demonstrate that he was only admitting to talking to an outside party, not that he had

the intention of preventing or dissuading the party from attending court. In fact, nowhere in the record is there any indication that Henry admitted to the malicious intent element of the offense.

In denying Henry's post-conviction motion, the Circuit Court relied entirely on Henry's responses to the plea colloquy. App 20-21. Specifically, the Circuit Court relied on the question and answer where the court asked "Were you talking to the third party [sic] that the case would stop if the witnesses didn't show up?" and Henry answered "Yes." App 21. The Circuit Court directly inferred from this sentence that Henry admitted to the malicious intent element of the offense. *ld.* The court reasoned that Henry's affirmative response "confirmed that [Henry] contacted the third party *so that* the case would stop if the witness did not show up." *ld.* (emphasis added)

However, the Circuit Court's reasoning here is flawed. Nothing in Henry's response to the Circuit Court's question implies that he contacted the third party for the purpose of dissuading the witness from attending the hearing. In fact, when directly confronted with the question "And was that call – were you making those phone calls with the attempts and hopes that the witnesses wouldn't show up for court today?" Henry responded "No." App 40. The court mistakenly concluded that the question Henry affirmatively responded to was materially indistinguishable from the question Henry denied. App 21. In fact, the former question explicitly asked about Henry's intent, while the latter question did not. The latter question did not say anything about Henry's purpose for making the phone calls. Therefore, nowhere in the plea colloquy did Henry

admit that he had malicious intent while making the phone calls and he did not ratify an essential element of the offense.

II. The Circuit Court erred when it determined that there was a factual basis for Henry's plea because the prosecution never filed a criminal complaint for the intimidation of a witness charge and Henry's answers to the plea colloquy were insufficient to establish a factual basis.

Under Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b), a circuit court presiding over a plea hearing must make a determination on the record that the conduct to which the defendant admits constitutes the offense to which the defendant is pleading. *Id.* ¶17. In *Thomas*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court considered the extent to which a "defendant must admit the facts of a crime charged in order to accept the factual basis underlying a guilty plea." *Id.* ¶18. The court concluded that "a defendant does not need to admit to the factual basis in his or her own words; defense counsel's statements suffice." *Id.* When a defendant or his attorney stipulates to the facts in a criminal complaint, the trial court may rely on the complaint as a factual basis for the defendant's plea, as long as the criminal complaint alleges sufficient facts to establish probable cause that the defendant committed the crime(s) to which he is pleading. *State v. Payette*, 2008 WI App 106, ¶7, 313 Wis. 2d 39, 756 N.W.2d 423; *Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d at ¶18.

In this case, the Court failed to establish a sufficient factual record to support Henry's plea to felony intimidation of a witness because neither Henry nor his attorney admitted or stipulated to the conduct that the Court relied upon to find a factual basis for the plea. At the plea hearing, defense counsel agreed to stipulate to the facts stated in the criminal complaint as a factual basis for the plea, and the Court appears to have relied on

the criminal complaint in finding a sufficient factual basis existed. App 41. However, the State never filed an amended criminal complaint, it only filed an amended information that included the intimidation of a witness charge. *See* App 11.

The Court: Counsel, are you satisfied that there's a factual basis

for each plea?

Mr. Canfield: Yes, Judge.

The Court: May I use the complaints for the bases?

Mr. Canfield: Yes.

The Court: The Court will find that Mr. Henry is entering each

plea freely, voluntarily, and intelligently. I find that he understands the charges, the maximum possible penalties, and all of the rights he is giving up. I find there's a factual basis for each plea and I will accept the

pleas.

App 41.

Here, there was no criminal complaint, so defense counsel's stipulation to the facts stated in the complaint as a factual basis for Henry's plea was not a valid stipulation. *State v. Howell*, 2007 WI 75,  $\P$  62, 301 Wis. 2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 48 ("Because the complaint was not amended to reflect party-to-a-crime liability . . . defense counsel's stipulation to the factual basis in the complaint is insufficient to fulfill the circuit court's duty to personally ascertain that a factual basis exists for the crime charge.") Likewise, the Court's reliance on the complaint as a factual basis for the plea was clearly erroneous. *Id*.

In its order denying Henry's post-conviction motion, the Circuit Court wholly relied Henry's statements during the plea colloquy. App 21. The Circuit Court said, "The defendant's statements on the record during the plea colloquy were sufficient to establish a factual basis for the intimidation charge. *Id.* The Circuit Court gave no further

explanation as to why it felt that Henry's testimony was sufficient to establish a basis for the elements of the crime. *Id*.

However, the Circuit Court's assertion is flawed because during the plea colloquy Henry never admitted and expressly denied attempting to dissuade anyone from attending court. App 40-41. Although Henry admitted to making phone calls to a third party, he never gave any indication that his purpose was to dissuade the person or anyone else from coming to court. In fact, the record fails to provide any facts to establish the malicious intent element of the charge, and therefore there was no factual basis for the plea.

In sum, neither Mr. Henry nor his attorney ever admitted or stipulated to a valid factual basis upon which the Court could appropriately rely in accepting Henry's guilty pleas. As a result, no factual basis was established, and a manifest injustice will continue to exist if Mr. Henry is not allowed to withdraw his guilty plea. Therefore, this Court should reverse the decision of the Circuit Court.

III. The Circuit Court erred in denying Henry's request for a *Bangert* hearing because Henry made a *prima facie* showing that he did not understand that malicious intent was a necessary element to the intimidation of a witness charge.

A circuit court presiding over a plea hearing must fulfill the duties imposed by Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1) prior to accepting the defendant's plea. One requirement in section 971.08(1) the duty to establish the defendant's understanding of the nature of the crime(s) to which the defendant is pleading guilty. Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a). A defendant's claim that the court failed to satisfy its obligations under section 971.08(a)(1) is governed by

State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) and its progeny. Under Bangert, a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to determine the voluntariness of his plea if the defendant files a motion for postconviction relief that: "(1) makes a prima facie showing of a violation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1) or other court-mandated duties by pointing to passages or gaps in the plea hearing transcript; and (2) alleges that the defendant did not know or understand the information that should have been provided." State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 39, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. When the defendant files a motion that satisfies these two criteria, the burden shifts to the State to prove at the evidentiary hearing that the defendant's plea was knowing and voluntary. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 274.

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