RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **11-30-2017**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP940-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LARON HENRY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JANET C. PROTASIEWICZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly exercised its discretion to deny Henry's plea withdrawal motion without an evidentiary hearing.

This Court should affirm. The trial court properly exercised its discretion to deny Henry's plea withdrawal motion. The record conclusively shows that Henry was advised of and understood the intent element of felony witness intimidation, and there was a sufficient factual basis for his plea to that charge.

- A. The law applicable to the denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea for failure to sufficiently allege a "manifest injustice"
 - 1. The sufficiency of the factual allegations to require an evidentiary hearing

The trial court had the discretion to summarily deny Henry's plea withdrawal motion without an evidentiary hearing if the motion failed to allege sufficient facts, presented only conclusory allegations, or even if it was sufficient on its face the record conclusively showed that Henry was not entitled to relief. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 50, 56–59; *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309–11 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996); *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497–98, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972).

To warrant further evidentiary inquiry, the motion had to allege material facts; those facts that are significant or essential to the issues at hand. State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 22, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. See State v. Love, 2005 WI 116, ¶¶ 26–28, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d

62. The motion had to specifically allege within its four corners material facts answering the questions who, what, when, where, why, and how Henry would successfully prove at an evidentiary hearing that he is entitled to withdraw his plea: "the five 'w's' and one 'h" test. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 59; *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 23.

This specificity requirement promotes "the policy favoring finality, the pleading and proof burdens that have shifted to the defendant in most situations after conviction, and the need to minimize time—consuming postconviction hearings unless there is a clearly articulated justification for them." *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 58.

2. The "manifest injustice" test required to be met for post-sentencing plea withdrawal

A defendant who seeks to withdraw his guilty plea after sentencing bears the heavy burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that there was a "manifest injustice" entitling him to withdraw the plea. Taylor, 347 Wis. 2d 30, ¶ 24; State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶¶ 18–19, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906; *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 311. To prevail, Henry had to prove there was a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of his plea; not just disappointment in a lengthier than expected sentence. Taylor, 347 Wis. 2d 30, ¶ 49. This stiff burden of proof is imposed on Henry, and deference is owed to the trial court's determination that he failed to prove a "manifest injustice," to protect the State's strong interest in preserving the finality of criminal convictions once the plea has been accepted and sentence has been imposed. Id. ¶ 48. See State v. Cain, 2012 WI 68, ¶¶ 25–26, 342 Wis. 2d 1, 816 N.W.2d 177; Roou, 305 Wis. 2d 164, ¶ 15 (same).

This Court's review is not limited to the plea hearing; it encompasses "the entire record, including the sentencing

hearing." Cain, 342 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 29. This Court must consider "the totality of the circumstances," including the plea and sentencing hearings, the statements of defense counsel and other portions of the record. Id. ¶ 31. "The reviewing court looks at the entirety of the record to determine whether, considered as a whole, the record supports the assertion that manifest injustice will occur if the plea is not withdrawn." Id. This broad scope of review is proper because "it would simply not make sense to vacate a conviction as the result of an error at a plea hearing when later proceedings unambiguously demonstrate that the error did not give rise to a manifest injustice and that the plea was valid." Id. See also cases cited at id. ¶ 49 n.8 (Abrahamson, J., concurring).

B. Henry failed to prove a manifest injustice because the record conclusively shows that he was advised of and understood the malicious intent element of intimidation of a witness.

The entire record conclusively shows that Henry was properly advised of, said he understood, and in fact understood the malicious intent element of intimidation of a witness.

Henry pled guilty to felony intimidation of a witness in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 940.42 and 940.43. Henry is guilty if, in pertinent part, he "knowingly and maliciously prevents or dissuades, or [he] attempts to so prevent or dissuade any witness from attending or giving testimony at any trial," Wis. Stat. § 940.42, and he "is charged with a felony in connection with a trial." Wis. Stat. § 940.43(7). There are four elements to felony witness intimidation as applied to Henry's actions: (1) T.T. and N.M. were witnesses called or expected to testify at trial; (2) Henry prevented or dissuaded, or attempted to prevent or dissuade, those witnesses from testifying at trial; (3) Henry acted "knowingly and

maliciously," meaning that he "acted with the purpose to prevent" the witnesses from testifying; and (4) he did so in connection with a trial in a felony case in which he was charged. Wis. JI-Criminal 1292 (2010) at 1–2. *See State v. Moore*, 2006 WI App 61, ¶ 10, 292 Wis. 2d 101, 713 N.W.2d 131 (discussing the first three elements).

As shown above, Henry was on trial for several charged felonies and misdemeanors. He telephoned third parties from his jail cell after the first day of his jury trial to convince them to dissuade prosecution witnesses T.T. and N.M. from coming to court to testify against him the next day. There can be no serious dispute that Henry's telephone calls satisfied the first, second, and fourth elements. Henry contends only that the plea hearing record failed to show his understanding of the third element: that he acted "knowingly and maliciously." The record in its entirety shows that he understood fully.

Henry and his attorney went over the elements of felony witness intimidation together. They used a copy of the pattern jury instruction attached to the plea questionnaire and waiver form listing those elements. (R. 6:3–4.) Henry does not dispute this.

Plea questionnaire and waiver forms such as this are useful tools for assessing the voluntary and intelligent nature of a guilty or "no contest" plea on appellate review. State v. Garcia, 192 Wis. 2d 845, 866, 532 N.W.2d 111 (1995); State v. Moederndorfer, 141 Wis. 2d 823, 827–28, 416 N.W.2d 627 (Ct. App. 1987). See Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 268 ("the trial judge may expressly refer to the record or other evidence of a defendant's knowledge of the nature of the charge established prior to the plea hearing"). "A circuit court has significant discretion in how it conducts a plea hearing. Within its discretion, a circuit court may incorporate into the plea colloquy the information contained in the plea questionnaire, relying substantially on that

questionnaire to establish the defendant's understanding of the crime." *State v. Brandt*, 226 Wis. 2d 610, 621, 594 N.W.2d 759 (1999). *Compare Brown*, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶ 54 ("The fact that there was no plea questionnaire at hand should have warned the court that special steps were imperative to ensure, on the record, that the defendant was fully apprised and understood the charge.")

With respect to the "knowingly and maliciously" element, the pattern instruction explained to Henry that he is guilty if he knew that T.T. and N.M. were witnesses at his trial and he "acted with the purpose to prevent" them from testifying the next day. Wis. JI-Criminal 1292 (2010) at 1–2. The instruction also explained to Henry that his knowledge and purpose would be found from his "acts, words, and statements, if any, and from all the facts and circumstances in this case bearing upon knowledge and purpose." *Id*.

In the Comment to Wis. JI-Criminal 1292 (2010), the instructions committee explained that the concept of "knowingly and maliciously" is unique to this statute. The committee applied the definition of "malice" or "maliciously" adopted by the Legislature at Wis. Stat. § 940.41(1r), which includes, as is pertinent here, "an intent to . . . thwart or interfere in any manner with the orderly administration of justice." Id. Wis. JI-Criminal 1292 (2010), comment at ¶ 5. "This instruction reduces the mental purpose to that of preventing the witness from testifying because that purpose fits in best with the basic definition of the offense: attempting to prevent the witness from testifying. This kind of purpose is one that shows intent to interfere with the administration of justice." Id. See also Moore, 292 Wis. 2d 101, ¶ 1 n.2. (although it employs the term "intimidation," the statute "actually proscribes preventing or dissuading a witness from testifying"). Henry does not disagree with how the jury instructions committee has interpreted or phrased the malicious intent element.

Henry did not dispute the prosecutor's summary of the nature and content of his telephone calls at the plea hearing. (R. 30:4.) Henry telephoned third parties after the first day of trial from jail and told them to contact T.T. and N.M. to let them know the charges against him will be dropped if they do not show up. In the context of his having fled from the initially-scheduled trial when he saw that T.T. and N.M. came to testify, and in the context of his controlling and abusive conduct towards T.T. and her mother over the years, Henry's actions undeniably satisfied the malicious intent element in that he used third parties to dissuade T.T. and N.M. from testifying the next day. See Moore, 292 Wis. 2d 101, ¶¶ 2–6, 10–13 (defendant guilty of witness intimidation for writing letters to a witness and indirectly to her witnessdaughter telling them that the battery charges against him would be dismissed if they did not show up for trial).

Despite saying "No" when the court asked Henry whether he made those calls with the hope that the witnesses would not show up, Henry admitted seconds earlier that he made those calls, and admitted seconds later to "talking third party" so that, agreeing with the court's understanding of the calls' purpose, "the case would stop if the witnesses didn't show up." (R. 30:18.) Henry also did not dispute the prosecutor's more detailed summary of the nature and content of his phone calls at sentencing shortly after his plea (R. 31:14–17), or the court's observations about his conduct in its colloquy with him at sentencing (R. 31:35).

Henry seems to be arguing that his "No" at the plea hearing indicates either that he did not understand the intent element, or that he never actually admitted that element. But, as shown above, the entire record defeats his claim. Unlike Henry, this Court cannot ignore the rest of the record. *Cain*, 342 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 29, 31. Henry's admissions during the colloquy immediately before and after the "No"; his acquiescence in the prosecutor's detailed summary of the

content of the calls both at the plea hearing and at sentencing a short while later; the plea questionnaire with the attached pattern jury instruction explaining the malicious intent element; and the assurances by both Henry and defense counsel that they discussed the elements, had enough time to do so, and Henry understood them, firmly support the trial court's determination that Henry failed to prove a manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence.

Henry made these phone calls with the specific "purpose to prevent" T.T. and N.M. from testifying at his felony trial. What other purpose, after all, would there have been for Henry to make those mid-trial phone calls from jail other than to encourage the third parties to dissuade T.T. and N.M. from coming to court? This is especially true with regard to the call where the third party called T.T. and put her on speaker phone while Henry listened and the third party told T.T. that Henry wanted her to know that the case would be dismissed if she did not show up the next day. (R. 31:17.) This was "knowing and malicious" intimidation of T.T. and N.M. that was understandable by any layman and, the record shows, understood by Henry with the assistance of counsel.

C. There was a factual basis for the plea.

Before accepting a plea, the trial court must inquire into the factual basis for the plea to make sure that the facts supporting the charge actually do constitute the offense to which the defendant is about to plead. *Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 262; Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b). A sufficient factual basis exists if an inculpatory inference can reasonably be drawn by the fact-finder from the facts, even if an exculpatory inference can also be drawn and the defendant insists that the exculpatory one is the correct inference. *State v. Black*, 2001 WI 31, ¶ 16, 242 Wis. 2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363; *State v. Spears*, 147 Wis. 2d 429, 435, 433 N.W.2d 595 (Ct. App.

1988). When the guilty plea is the product of a negotiated plea agreement, the trial court need not go to the same lengths in assessing whether the facts would sustain the charge as it would if there had been no negotiated plea agreement. *State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz*, 219 Wis. 2d 615, 645–46, 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998).

Henry seems to be arguing that he is not guilty of witness intimidation despite his guilty plea to that offense. The requirement that there be a sufficient factual basis for the plea is not, however, the same as convincing the defendant that he is in fact guilty of the charge to which he is about to plead. "Under § 971.08(1)(b), the circuit court is not required to satisfy the defendant that he or she committed the crime charged. Indeed, the defendant evidenced his or her own satisfaction by entering a plea and thereby waiving his or her right to a jury trial." Black, 242 Wis. 2d 126, ¶ 12.

Once again, Henry asks this Court to ignore anything in the record outside of the plea hearing. This Court must, however, review the entire record and the totality of the circumstances when determining whether he proved a manifest injustice. Cain, 342 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 29, 31. Henry admitted to making the calls. The prosecutor provided the factual basis for the plea in his summary of the substance of Henry's phone calls just before he pled guilty. (R. 30:4.) The prosecutor described in greater detail the factual basis at sentencing shortly after his plea. (R. 31:14–19.) Henry did not then and does not now challenge the accuracy of those factual summaries. Henry reviewed the elements of the offense with counsel that were laid out in the jury instruction attached to the plea questionnaire before the plea hearing.

Henry was satisfied with the plea agreement and decided to waive his right to a jury trial in favor of a guilty plea, in exchange for the dismissal of several other charges.

He did so after admitting to making the telephone calls from the jail in which he solicited third parties to tell T.T. and N.M. not to come to court. There was a sufficient factual basis as described by the prosecutor at the plea hearing and at sentencing, coupled with Henry's admissions at both hearings, to making the third-party calls. The prosecutor's summaries of the content of the calls render specious Henry's claim, at page 15 of his brief, that "the record fails to provide any facts to establish the malicious intent element." The record in its entirety conclusively proves those essential facts. The phone calls that Henry has always admitted making had no purpose other than to dissuade the witnesses from testifying. Henry did not then, and does not now, claim that they had any other purpose.

D. Henry failed to make the requisite prima facie showing that would entitle him to a *Bangert* hearing.

In *Bangert*, the supreme court set forth mandatory procedures to be followed by trial courts when accepting a guilty or no contest plea to ensure that the record reflects the voluntary and intelligent nature of the plea. 131 Wis. 2d at 260–62, 266–72. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.08. Those mandatory procedures help to ascertain the defendant's understanding of the elements of the offense to which he is about to plead, his understanding of the constitutional trial rights being waived by the plea, and his assurance that no threats or promises were made to coerce the plea. The court must also inquire into the factual basis for the plea to make sure that the facts supporting the charge actually constitute the offense to which the defendant is about to plead. *Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 262.

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